IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC11-1509 L.T. No. 97-482 CFAES Death Penalty Case

MICHAEL PETER FITZPATRICK,

Appellee.

POST-CONVICTION APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0327832
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the direct appeal record will be designated as (DA V#/pg.#). References to the post-conviction appeal record will be designated as (PCR V#/pg.#) and to the post-conviction Addendum will be designated as (PCR Add. V#/pg.#).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Trial and Direct Appeal Proceedings

The criminal charges against Michael Fitzpatrick resulted from the stabbing and sexual battery of Laura Romines, who was found nude and bleeding on the side of a road, and later died from her injuries. On February 7, 1997, Fitzpatrick was indicted for first-degree murder and sexual battery. (DA V1/1-2). This case originally went to trial on November 27-28, 2000, but ended in a mistrial. (DA SR V1/2069-SR V3/2468; V19/1203). Retrial was had before a different jury beginning on March 26, 2001, with the Honorable Maynard F. Swanson, Jr. presiding. (DA V13/1-V21/1619).

On March 30, 2001, the jury returned its guilty verdict, finding Fitzpatrick guilty, as charged, of first-degree murder and sexual battery with great force. (DA V6/1035-1036; V21/1484). The penalty phase was held on April 5, 2001. During the penalty phase, the State presented one witness and one exhibit, but Fitzpatrick declined to present evidence in mitigation. (DA V21/1498-1607). The jury returned a death recommendation by a vote of ten to two. (DA V6/1034; V21/1601). The trial court ordered that a comprehensive presentence investigation be prepared. (DA V6/1030, 1109-1110; V21/1500-1501). A Spencer hearing was held on September 7, 2001 and

several people spoke on Fitzpatrick's behalf. (DA V9/1567-1592).1

The trial court found four aggravating factors: (1) Fitzpatrick under sentence of imprisonment, was conditional/control release, (great weight), see S 921.141(5)(a), Fla. Stat. (2001); (2) Fitzpatrick had previously been convicted of a violent felony (moderate weight), see § 921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat. (2001); (3) Fitzpatrick committed the murder while he was committing an involuntary sexual battery on the victim (little weight), see § 921.141(5)(d), Fla. Stat. (2001); and (4) Fitzpatrick committed the murder in an

¹The post-conviction court's final order set forth the following summary of the timeline from the original encounter with the victim through to the sentencing of the defendant:

^{•8/18/96:} Victim found walking on side of road and hospitalized.

^{•9/05/96:} Victim dies in the hospital.

^{•2/07/97:} Defendant is arrested.

^{•3/18/97:} Attorney A.J. Ivie was initially appointed when the Public Defender withdrew.

^{•4/08/97: &}quot;Additional Attorney" William Eble appointed.

^{•2/24/98:} Attorney Ivie ceased appearing; no formal order of withdrawal exists.

^{•3/26/01:} Jury sworn and trial commenced.

^{•3/30/01:} Guilty Verdict of First Degree Murder.

^{•4/05/01:} Penalty Phase begins and recommendation of death returned.

^{•6/15/01:} Spencer Hearing set but continued.

^{•6/29/01:} Spencer Hearing reset again.

^{•9/07/01:} Spencer Hearing held.

 $[\]bullet$ 11/02/01: Sentencing on Count 1 (First degree Murder).

^{•12/21/01:} Sentencing on Count 2 (Sexual Battery).

⁽PCR V5/714-715).

especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel fashion (great weight), see § 921.141(5)(h), Fla. Stat. (2001). (DA V7/1162-1166; V12/2012-2016).

The trial court also considered a number of factors in mitigation. (DA V7/1167-1175; V12/2017-2025). The trial court gave "great weight" to the following mitigating circumstances: (1) Fitzpatrick's good family background (DA V7/1169; V12/2018-2019); (2) Fitzpatrick's role as a surrogate father to his girlfriend's children (DA V7/1172-1173; V12/2021-2022); (3) Fitzpatrick's long-term relationships with three women showed that he was not a "sex-starved maniac[,]" and this crime seems more of an aberration than as a common course of conduct (DA V7/1174; V12/2022-2023); and (4) the loyalty of Fitzpatrick's family and friends showed him to be "generally a friendly, warm, considerate person." (DA V7/1174-1175; V12/2023).

The trial court gave "moderate weight" to the following mitigation: (1) Fitzpatrick was doing well at his job (DA V7/1170; V12/2019); (2) Fitzpatrick "had a long history of alcoholism and drug addiction and was apparently making strides to combat it" (DA V7/1170-1171; V12/2019-2020); (3) Fitzpatrick's mental problems, including a suicide attempt in 1995, and "in 1995 a diagnosis of adjustment disorder with depressed mood and situational depression and alcohol and

marijuana dependency" (DA V7/1171-1172; V12/2020-2021); and (4) Fitzpatrick's remorse. (DA V7/1173-1174; V12/2022).

On direct appeal, *Fitzpatrick v. State*, 900 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 2005), this Court set forth the following summary of the facts adduced at trial:

The evidence presented at trial indicated that on August 18, 1996, at approximately 3 a.m., individuals found Romines walking on the side of the road, nude and bloody with her throat slit. at the and then again at questioned scene, hospital, Romines gave conflicting responses with regard to who attacked her. Αt the scene, separately advised an individual who found her, paramedic, and the first deputy to arrive that "Steve" had attacked her and that he lived at Water's Edge Apartments. [FN1] Romines also told the paramedic that "Steve" was а 30-year-old male. The paramedic testified that Romines was in and out of consciousness and possibly did not understand the question when she stated "Steve." Romines also stated that she was stabbed at the location where she was found and that she arrived there in a vehicle. Romines was airlifted to the hospital. At the hospital, detectives Jeff Bousquet and Peter Weekes asked Romines if "Steve" had attacked her and she shook her head no.

[FN1] "Steve" was later presumed to be Stephen Kirk, who became a suspect. At trial, the nature of Romines' relationship with Kirk was revealed. Jeff Smedley, a corporal with the sheriff's office, testified that on August 17, 1996, he responded call from Water's to a Apartments. There, he was informed that Romines had been staying with Kirk and Barbara Simler, and was no longer welcome on the premises. Smedley discovered that Kirk met Romines at the motel where he worked as a security quard, and offered Romines a place to stay after she was beaten up by her boyfriend, Joe Galbert. police eliminated Galbert as a suspect because he was in jail at the time of Romines' stabbing.

A significant amount of investigative evidence exculpated Kirk of Romines' sexual battery and murder. The DNA profile developed from Romines' vaginal swabs was not consistent with Kirk's DNA profile; numerous witnesses, including coworkers and guests at the motel where Kirk was working as a security guard, testified regarding his whereabouts that night; and Kirk's vehicle was processed for possible blood evidence but no results were procured.

Rita Hall, an advanced registered nurse, who was accepted by the trial court as an expert in the field the examination οf sexual assault conducted the SAVE (sexual assault victim examination) on Romines at the hospital. Hall testified that she found a bloody undergarment wrapped around Romines' waist near her breasts, Romines' breasts were deep purple, there was a penetrating wound in the breast area that was either another stab wound or a bite mark, there was puffiness around her head, there was bruising on her arms, her legs were covered scratches, and there was a cigarette burn on her leg.

Hall also examined and swabbed Romines' vaginal and Hall concluded that sexual activity anal areas. occurred within a fairly close proximity of time, a maximum of an hour or two, from when Romines was found. Hall also concluded that Romines never had the undergarment on after the sexual activity, due to the absence of semen on the undergarment. Hall detected several areas in the vagina and anus that were either a very deep pink or red, indicating there was pressure from something penetrating the areas. In addition, Hall testified that her findings were consistent with forced sexual activity; however, she could determine conclusively if the sexual activity was forced. Further, the evidence established that the DNA profile developed from Romines' vaginal swabs consistent with the DNA profile that was developed from Fitzpatrick's blood sample. According medical examiner, the cause of death was hemorrhage and aspiration of blood due to incised wounds of the neck, penetrating the larynx and esophagus. medical examiner could not indicate with any degree of precision the original length of the wound; however,

the deepest penetration appeared to be one to one and a half inches.

With regard to Fitzpatrick's involvement with Romines, the evidence established that on August 17, 1996, Romines was dropped off at a 7-Eleven between 7:30 and 8 p.m. Fitzpatrick, who was delivering pizzas for Pro Pizza, saw Romines at the 7-Eleven. In his police statement, Fitzpatrick stated that when he stopped at the 7-Eleven to get gas and cigarettes he saw Romines crying and asked her if she needed a ride to the Sunny Palms Motel. Fitzpatrick stated that he then dropped off Romines at the motel, and later returned to the motel to check on her, but never saw her again. The 7-Eleven surveillance tape from that night revealed that Romines entered the store. The tape also revealed Fitzpatrick at the store.

State witnesses, Cindy Young and Jessica Two Kortepeter, testified that they witnessed a Pro Pizza delivery man arrive at the Sunny Palms Motel with Romines on the night of August 17 between 8:30 and 9 p.m. After Romines informed Kortepeter she was looking for a place to stay, Kortepeter recommended her friend Albert J. Howard. Kortepeter testified that Howard arrived at the Sunny Palms Motel, talked to Romines for about ten to fifteen minutes, and drove off with approximately 9 p.m. [FN2] Young Kortepeter's testimony was consistent with Howard's, who admitted that he went to the Sunny Palms Motel between 8:30 and 9 p.m. to talk to Romines, and talked to her for fifteen to twenty minutes before she decided to go with him to his house.

[FN2] This testimony was corroborated Fitzpatrick's Pro Pizza employers, Deborah Bradford and Eugene Degele, who testified that Fitzpatrick informed them that he had gone that night to a convenience store, picked up a young lady, and taken her to the Sunny Palms Motel. Degele testified that he personally Fitzpatrick's Pro Pizza truck in the motel parking lot. At trial, evidence was presented that after the stabbing Degele questioned Fitzpatrick regarding whether the girl who was stabbed was the same girl Fitzpatrick had picked

up at the 7-Eleven, and Fitzpatrick denied it was she. However, the next day Fitzpatrick admitted to Degele that the girl he picked up was the one who was found stabbed later that night.

The evidence at trial established that Fitzpatrick clocked out with his time card at 11:45 p.m. on August and took a pizza with him. Sally Goodwin, Kortepeter's mother who was visiting Kortepeter at the Sunny Palms Motel, testified that she saw a Pro Pizza truck at the motel that night, but could not remember what time she observed the truck at the motel. Goodwin also testified that she left the motel and drove to Howard's house, where she recalled seeing the same Pro Pizza truck that left the motel. Howard confirmed that a pizza delivery man, whom he identified in court as Fitzpatrick, arrived at his house with a pizza, informed him the pizza was free, and asked him if Romines was there. Howard testified that it approximately midnight when Romines left with pizza delivery man "arm in arm."

Howard's testimony was consistent with that of Melanie Yarborough, who was at Howard's house on August 17, 1996. At some point that night, Yarborough observed a Pro Pizza delivery man arrive at Howard's house. Yarborough recalled either helping place Romines' bags in the pizza delivery man's truck or handing the bags to Romines, who then placed the bags in the truck. Yarborough testified that she saw Romines leave Howard's house with the pizza delivery man.

At trial, evidence was presented that Fitzpatrick was seen carrying a knife before the stabbing occurred, but not afterward. Specifically, Fitzpatrick's Pro Pizza employers, Bradford and Degele, testified that during the time frame that Fitzpatrick worked for Pro Pizza he carried a knife on his person, but that after the stabbing they never saw that knife again. Degele, however, did not remember the last time he Fitzpatrick with the knife before the stabbing. According to Degele, he confronted Fitzpatrick regarding not carrying the knife after the stabbing, and Fitzpatrick indicated it would not be very smart to carry a knife around because the police were

conducting a murder investigation.

During the investigation, Fitzpatrick made several statements to Detective Jeffrey Bousquet involvement in the crime. Fitzpatrick admitted that he picked Romines up at the 7-Eleven and dropped her off at the Sunny Palms Motel. Fitzpatrick denied ever seeing Romines again. Diane Fairbanks, who resided with Fitzpatrick at the time of the murder, and was still Fitzpatrick's girlfriend at the time of trial, testified that Fitzpatrick was home between 12:30 and 1 a.m. on August 18, 1996, roughly the same time other witnesses testified to seeing Fitzpatrick with Romines leaving Howard's house. [FN3] Fitzpatrick also denied having sexual intercourse with Romines, until detective confronted him with the DNA results. At that point, Fitzpatrick admitted that he had sexual contact with Romines on August 17, 1996, between 9:30 a.m. and at the Water's Edge Apartments. Fitzpatrick stated that he saw Romines at the dumpster at Water's Edge and then they went to his house, had sexual intercourse on the couch, and he paid her twenty-five dollars. Bousquet also inquired whether Fitzpatrick would submit a blood sample to the police, which Fitzpatrick ultimately did. Evidence presented revealed that Fitzpatrick asked Dawn Moore, his sister who was a nurse, for a couple of vials of blood. Moore informed Fitzpatrick that she could not obtain blood samples for him.

Fitzpatrick, 900 So. 2d at 503-506.

Fitzpatrick raised eleven claims on direct appeal 2 and this

²Fitzpatrick's claims on direct appeal were: (1) the trial court erred in denying Fitzpatrick's motion for judgment of acquittal on the issue of identity; (2) the trial court erred in denying Fitzpatrick's motion for judgment of acquittal on the issue of sufficiency of the evidence to prove premeditation or that the killing occurred during a sexual battery; (3) the trial court erred in denying Fitzpatrick's motions to suppress statements he made to detectives; (4) the trial court erred in denying Fitzpatrick's motion to suppress DNA results obtained from his blood sample; (5) the trial court erred in permitting the State to introduce the detective's testimony regarding Romines'

Court affirmed Fitzpatrick's convictions and death sentence on January 27, 2005.

Post-Conviction Proceedings

Fitzpatrick's initial Motion to Vacate was filed on June 30, 2006. The State's Response was filed August 29, 2006. The post-conviction court's final order set forth the following procedural history of the post-conviction proceedings:

This matter came on to be heard before the undersigned who was appointed on May 25, 2005 due to the retirement of the trial judge. The Defendant filed the initial Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on June 30, 2006. Thereafter the following pivotal procedural events took place:

- •At the November 9, 2006 Case Management Conference the court announced which claims were barred, denied, denied without prejudice with leave to amend, and which would be resolved either by the outcome of a DNA motion or an evidentiary hearing.
- •An Order reflecting those rulings was entered January 4, 2007.
- •An Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence was filed March 7, 2007.

statements made at the hospital; (6) the trial court erred in not granting a mistrial when Bousquet testified that during the interview Fitzpatrick mentioned that he thought he initial needed an attorney; (7) the trial court erred in to suppress Howard and Yarborough's Fitzpatrick's motions identifications of Fitzpatrick; (8) the trial court critical evidence, thereby depriving Fitzpatrick of trial; (9) the trial court committed errors that could have rendered Fitzpatrick's sentence of death unreliable; Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional; and (11) erred in sentencing Fitzpatrick trial court noncapital count of sexual battery without the benefit of a sentencing quidelines scoresheet. Fitzpatrick, 900 So. 2d 506.

The State responded to this and subsequent amendments.

- •A Motion for Post-Conviction DNA Testing pursuant to Fl. R. Cr. P. 3.853 was filed March 7, 2007.
- •Notices of further DNA testing continued until June of 2010.
- •Several hearings were held, Orders entered and lab test results filed.
- •Ultimately the Court entered an Order on July 12, 2010 outlining the remaining claims.
- •The court conducted 33 hearings on the DNA related motions and the 3.851 Motion including testimony on October 20, 21, 22, November 19, & December 9, 2010.

(PCR V5/714).

The multi-day evidentiary hearing proceedings were held before the Honorable Lynn Tepper, Circuit Judge, on October 20-22, 2010, November 19, 2010 and December 9, 2010. (PCR V15/3-V19/743; PCR Add. V1/1 - Add. V2/247). The following witnesses testified in post-conviction: Mary Lewis (Fitzpatrick's mother); Margaret Angel (Private Investigator); William Eble (trial counsel), Dr. Daniel Spitz, M.D.; Robert Smith, Ph.D.; Elizabeth Johnson, Ph.D.; Angela Williamson, Ph.D.; Andrea Gardner, Ph.D.; Rita Hall, Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioner; and Robyn Ragsdale, Ph.D.

Mary Lewis is the mother of the defendant, Michael Fitzpatrick. (PCR V15/15). She married her first husband, also named Michael Fitzpatrick, when she was almost 19 and he was 24. She had three children with Fitzpatrick - Michael, who was born

on May 10, 1962, about a year after her marriage, Dawn Marie (born July 18, 1965), and John Phillip Fitzpatrick (born June 20, 1966). At first, her marriage was very good. However, when her son, Michael, was about a year old, her husband got an offer to work on the Long Island Railroad; his hours became very strange and he did not have much interaction with the children. (PCR V15/16). Her husband was unfaithful, and was mentally and sexually abusive to her. (PCR V15/17-18). She did not believe that she or her husband were physically abusive Fitzpatrick, although he was chastised, spanked and hit with a belt. (PCR V15/18).

Mary Lewis drank quite heavily socially and, during the sexual abuse, she drank alcohol as an escape. She attended Alcoholics Anonymous when she was married to Fitzpatrick, but he did not like her becoming independent and tried to make a deal that she could go to her AA meetings if she went out to a bar with him afterwards. (PCR V15/19-20). He also checked the mileage on her car to see if she was lying. (PCR V15/20). She had a history of depression while an active alcoholic and attempted suicide, by overdosing on valium and alcohol, in 1970 or 1971, when the defendant was 8 or 9 years old. (PCR V15/20). Mrs. Lewis was taken to a psychiatric unit at a hospital, where she remained for about 2% weeks until she was transferred to a

private sanitarium, where she remained for over three months. (PCR V15/21). During that time, Mrs. Lewis did not see her children - they were with her aunt and uncle in Merritt Island, Florida. After her release from the hospital, Mrs. Lewis did not She divorced Fitzpatrick in 1972, when defendant was about ten years old. (PCR V15/21). According to Mrs. Lewis, the children were traumatized by the divorce, they had no idea that anything was wrong between their parents. (PCR V15/22). After her divorce was final, Mrs. Lewis got married in New York to Joseph Bower, a man she'd met at AA meetings. She and Bower and her children moved to Florida; at that point, her children did not have any further contact with their biological father. (PCR V15/22). She also had a daughter with Bower, but she put that daughter up for adoption because her parents, who lived in New York, were already helping to support the three older children and "strongly suggested" or forced her into that decision. (PCR V15/22). Bower did not remain sober during their marriage; he started drinking about three months after they moved to Florida and paid for his alcohol by stealing jewelry and money from her and her mother. (PCR V15/23).

Mrs. Lewis' mother was a caregiver to both Mrs. Lewis and her children; she was "very dominant." When Mary Lewis lived in New York with Fitzpatrick, they lived with her mother "at all

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