IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC11-1509

STATE OF FLORIDA Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL PETER FITZPATRICK,

Appellee.

POSTCONVICTION APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA

[CORRECTED] ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, MICHAEL PETER FITZPATRICK

Mark S. Gruber* Florida Bar No. 0330541 Maria Perinetti Florida Bar No. 0013837 Capital Collateral Regional Counsel Middle Region 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813 740 3544 support@ccmr.state.fl.us

Counsel for Appellee

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

As to the penalty phase ineffectiveness grant of relief, the law is well settled that any purported waiver of mitigation by a defendant who has not been informed by an adequate investigation is invalid, and defense counsel conducted no investigation. His purported reason for inaction is legally unacceptable. The existence of mitigation was demonstrated at the evidentiary hearing, and prejudice is shown by, among other things, the fact that the trial judge's assessment of the defendant's formative years was simply inaccurate.

The postconviction court conducted a thorough hearing in this case and made detailed findings of facts and conclusions of law. Her decision to grant relief should be affirmed in all respects.

ARGUMENT

CLAIM I

THE POSTCONVICTION COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING A NEW GUILT PHASE TRIAL

The Trial

On direct appeal of the judgment and sentence, the State admitted that the case against Fitzpatrick was circumstantial, but argued that the evidence – particularly the scientific evidence presented by the prosecution at trial – was sufficient to warrant affirming the trial judge's denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal. The State argued:

The most damning evidence against [Fitzpatrick] is the fact that his semen was found in the victim, and, according to the SAVE (Sexual Assault Victim Examination) nurse [Rita Hall] who examined the victim, the amount of semen found indicated that the sex had taken place only one to two hours prior. . . This testimony directly contradicted Appellant's only hypothesis of innocence: that he had consensual sex with the victim between 9:00 a.m. and noon the day before she was found stabbed on the side of the road at approximately 3:30 a.m. . . . The DNA testing done on the victim's underpants also contradicted Appellant's claim of consensual sex, as well as the timing of that sexual Where no semen was found on the encounter. underpants which were found pushed up under the victim's breasts and covered in blood, consensual sex was ruled out. . . . If Appellant and the victim had consensual sex in the morning hours the day before she was stabbed, his semen would have been found on her underwear. Additionally, if Appellant and the victim had

sex, as Appellant claimed, some 20 to 24 hours prior to her SAVE exam which was conducted at 8:00 a.m. on August I7, 1996 . . . the amount of fluid found would no longer have been present. . . . Further, the motility of the sperm observed by the serologist suggested that the very longest the sperm cells could have been present in the victim's vagina would have been 15 hours before the sample was removed during the SAVE exam, or since 5:00 p.m. on August 17, 1996. Again, this scientific evidence contradicts Appellant's story that he had consensual sex with the victim between 9 a.m. and noon on August 17, 1996.

Answer Brief of Appellee [on direct appeal] in pages 7-9 (record citations omitted).

Indeed, the prosecutor made the following argument in his rebuttal closing

statement to the jury:

All right. Let's go at it this way. Let's forget Steve Kirk. Let's forget A. J. Howard, Melanie Yarborough, Cindy Young, Jeff Bousquet [the lead detective], Stacey Morrison and Arnold.¹ Everybody but three folks and one piece of evidence.

Let's forget the statements made by Fitzpatrick. The identifications made by the people in this courtroom. By Cindy Martin -- or Cindy Young, who could or could not identify him, by A. J. [Howard], by Melanie, by Diane Fairbanks. Forget it all.

¹Lieutenant William Arnold was the EMS first responder who was told by the victim that the perpetrator was a "Steve" who lived at the Water's Edge Apartments.
You have the right to believe or disbelieve any witness you want to. But I would suggest to you that the testimony of Lee Miller, the medical examiner, Dr. McMahan, and Rita Hall have not been damaged...

Dr. McMahan says this is not an exact science. I cannot tell you specifically. I can tell you that the literature in my experience to date . . . indicates that you will find live, motile sperm up to fifteen hours after it's been deposited.

Whoever, therefore, according to Dr. McMahan, had sex with this lady, had sex with her sometime fifteen hours preceding 8:00 a.m.on the morning of the 18th. . .

Rita Hall. Based upon my examination of Laura Romines and the amount of semen that I saw, not only in the vaginal cavity, but in the anus, I'm telling you that no more than an hour. At most, two.

Okay. Lee Miller, doctor. Forensic Pathologist. The wounds that were inflicted upon Laura Romines, these incised wounds of her throat, were inflicted a very short period of time before she was discovered. Very short. Otherwise, she would have bled out.

Dr. McMahan says, notwithstanding the crossexamination, there is no semen in those panties. There was none revealed by the Woods Lamp. There was none revealed by the scientific test that I was performing. There was none.

She did not have her panties on after she was raped. If she had -- and again, underlying the amount seminal fluid that was found in her body, the fact that there was that much by itself . . . the law of gravity indicates that if she's on her feet, it's going to drip out. It's just that indelicate, but it's true. There is no semen in her panties. Her panties were removed. She had sex, and she never put them back on, because they were around her waist. If she had had sex before these wounds were inflicted upon her body, there would be A, less semen in her than there was. Or B, semen in her panties. And you don't have either one of them. Whoever stabbed her had sex with her right then and there, and that is him.

Forget A.J., forget Melanie, forget Steve Kirk. Look at the panties. Look at the medical evidence. Look at the scientific evidence. And the only person you have is Michael Peter Fitzpatrick. It is physically, scientifically impossible for there to have been anyone else involved.

ROA Vol. 21, T1446-48.

During deliberations the jury submitted three questions about some testimony that the victim's clothing possibly had been burned in a pit on the property of a witness, Albert J. Howard, and that other people may have been seen wearing some articles of her clothing. These events, if they happened, would have occurred around August 18, 1996. The judge told the jury that he could not pick and choose what portions of the relevant witness's testimony could be read back but would have to read back their entire testimony, which would take about seven hours. The jurors, who had begun deliberations late in the day, declined that offer and returned a verdict at 11:00 pm. ROA Vol. XXI, T1478-83.

The guilt phase trial took place March 26, 2001 through March 30, 2001, resulting in a guilty verdict. The penalty phase trial took place April 5, 2001 and

resulted in a 10-2 recommendation of the death sentence. On August 10, 2001, about four months after the trial, defense counsel (unsuccessfully) filed a motion to get a forensic investigator and for "excavation" of Howard's property to look at the burn pit issue. ROA Vol. VI, 1123. That was the first and last time that defense counsel asked for expert assistance of any kind. He also asked to conduct a redeposition of the State's serologist, Ruth McMahan. These motions were taken up at the joint motion for new trial/*Spencer* hearing on September 2001. After a number of untimeliness objections the prosecutor finally had this to say:

The motion for the investigator and for an order authorizing the excavation of Mr. Howard's property, we object to that on two grounds. Number one, this is untimely. This is information that was readily available to -- at least thoughts which were readily available to Mr. Eble prior to the swearing of the jury and the trial of this case . . .

With regard to the Motion for the costs for the confidential examination of the microscopic slides, again, this is something that should have been done pre-trial. These witnesses were available pre-trial. The deposition was taken. If it had been more in-depth or if more questions had been asked, perhaps, this information would have been revealed. The fact that it wasn't revealed does not now give Mr. Eble the opportunity to go back and start preparing to try this case all over again. This is just simply untimely. And if this is the basis for postconviction relief, should the Defendant get that far, then, albeit, there it is [sic].

Finally, with regard to the Motion to Compel and authorizing the taking of the deposition of Ms.

McMahan, number 1, again, untimely.

Number 2, Judge, I'm assuming that Mr. Eble was well aware of the fact, in his preparation for this trial, that he had this study from this laboratory. And he was well aware of that at the time that Ms. McMahan was deposed or shortly after that. Had he wanted to go in and make her aware of the fact that he was going to ask her about this during the course of the trial so that he could -instead of trying to ambush her with this at trial, I think this is the choice Mr. Eble made and now he's going to have to live with it, the fact she was not familiar with the tests that he was attempting to impeach her with, something he should have found out pre-trial. And it was a choice, I assume, that he made and it backfired on him.

So, in each of these . . . these three motions, I object on the grounds they're untimely and the specific objection as previously raised.

ROA Vol. IX, 1533-36. The judge denied all the motions without comment.

CCRC agrees with the prosecutor's remarks.

Forensic Evidence Regarding the Victim's Underwear

Prior to trial the FDLE tested the underwear for the presence of acid phosphatase, a protein found in high levels in seminal fluid, and those results were negative. They also did sperm searches in several areas of the underwear with negative results. Dr. Johnson said that if Fitzpatrick's trial attorney had contacted her prior to his trial in 2001 regarding the results of the FDLE's testing of the victim's underwear, she would have advised them to perform independent tests at a different laboratory, because it is fairly common for one lab to miss sperm and a second lab to find it. PC-R Vol. XVI, 163.

BODE Laboratories was able to locate sperm on the victim's underwear. The methodology described by Dr. Angela Williamson involved dividing the underwear into eleven areas each of which was then scraped with s scalpel blade. Bode found sperm in 9 of the 11 areas. PC-R Vol. XVII, 261-62. Andrea Borchardt-Gardner performed DNA analysis on 2 of the scrapings, from the interior front upper left region near the side strap and interior back left side strap. She obtained a DNA profile from each sample and determined that Fitzpatrick was the contributor. As the postconviction court noted, "Without the expert witnesses and analysis produced at the 3.851 evidentiary hearing described above, at trial the State freely and strenuously argued at closing, 'There's not a bit of semen on those panties." PC-R V5, 720. Quoting from ROA Vol. XX, TT1345.

DNA from the Victim's Fingernails

Defense counsel tried but failed to introduce evidence obtained from the victim's fingernails during the autopsy. The judge ruled that it was not relevant. This is how this Court described the proffer:

At trial, the court excluded evidence of fingernail scrapings indicating that the victim could be eliminated from the DNA mixture tested from her right hand, but neither Fitzpatrick nor Stephen Kirk could be eliminated; both Fitzpatrick and Stephen Kirk could be eliminated from the mixture tested from her left hand but the victim could not be eliminated; there was evidence of the DNA of another, unknown person in the tissue from the right hand clippings; and the DNA evidence under the victim's fingernails could have been there for a long period of time, depending on when she had last washed her hands or cleaned her nails. The trial court found that "the proffer of the evidence is of a nature that it would be irrelevant and immaterial in its composition ... for the reason that the proffered evidence is inconsequential and does not lead to any conclusion of any kind."

Fitzpatrick v. State, 900 So. 2d 495, 521 (Fla. 2005). That missing relevancy was provided through expert testimony at the postconviction hearing. Dr. Johnson pointed out that there was visible tissue from the fingernail clippings on the right hand and that a large quantity of DNA was collected. She said that she would not expect that to result from any kind of casual contact (i.e. holding hands, shaking hands, incidental contact). She also noted that there was blood and sand under the victim's fingernails when they were examined under a microscope, which strongly indicates that the sample was deposited at the scene of the crime. It also suggests that the victim's hands were not cleaned up very well at the hospital. PC-R Vol. XVI, 170. Dr. Johnson said it is not common that people have foreign tissue under their nails. *Id.* 173.

According to Dr. Angela Williamson, BODE obtained a full DNA profile from a male contributor. BODE used STR testing, which was available in 2001. At trial, FDLE used DQ Alpha testing which is not as discriminating as STR testing. PC-R Vol. XVII, 52-54. Fitzpatrick, Kirk, and Romines were all excluded as contributors. Subsequent comparison with DNA obtained during the postconviction proceedings from Dwayne Mercer excluded him as a contributor as well, thus debunking the prosecutor's argument both to the jury in opening statements and during the defense proffer. It shows that there was DNA from a large amount of tissue mixed with sand and blood found under the victim's fingernails belonging to a male whose identity remains unknown to this day, but who in any event is not Mr. Fitzpatrick.

On direct appeal this Court declined to address whether the trial court's rejection of the defense proffer at trial was error and instead denied relief on harmlessness grounds. The Court observed, *inter alia:*

The proffered testimony did not establish any material conclusion due to the expert's inability to accurately determine how long the DNA had been under the victim's fingernails. The proffered evidence also failed to eliminate Fitzpatrick. The tissue from the unknown person could have been explained through the trial testimony of Dwayne Mercer, who testified that when he was with the victim at the crime scene she squeezed his arm and her fingernails went into his flesh.

Fitzpatrick, 900 So.2d at 521. These factual circumstances have now been debunked. Dwayne Mercer has been excluded. Instead of a single, unexplained

DNA marker, postconviction testing of the tissue yielded a full DNA profile of a male, who was the major contributor to the extracted DNA. Blood and dirt were intermixed with the tissue sample, indicating both that the victim's hands were not cleaned up at the hospital and that the tissue was deposited around the time of the crime. Dr. Spitz pointed out that a medical examiner can take much deeper scrapings and be much more invasive with a deceased person than would be possible with someone who was living. That would explain why a profile was obtained from the samples collected by the medical examiner and not from the samples collected during the SAVE exam. PC-R Vol. XVII, 352-53. He also said that while Laura Romines was in the hospital he would expect the hospital staff to be wearing latex gloves, thus reducing the possibility that the tissue was deposited while she was there. *Id.*

This Court has explained the harmless error test many times.

The harmless error test, as set forth in *Chapman* and progeny, places the burden on the state, as the beneficiary of the error, to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict or, alternatively stated, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction. Application of the test requires an examination of the entire record by the appellate court including a close examination of the permissible evidence on which the jury could have legitimately relied, and in addition an even closer examination of the impermissible evidence which might have possibly influenced the jury verdict *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986) (citation omitted). At a minimum, the factual basis for this Court's harmless error analysis on direct appeal has been called into question.

Robyn Ragsdale, FDLE's DNA analyst, testified at the postconviction hearing that FDLE switched from using DQ Alpha Polymarker and RFLP testing to STR testing in early 1999. FDLE was not asked to do any additional testing using the new STR method, even though it was available prior to trial. If they had been asked or ordered to do additional testing, they would have. PC-R Vol. XVIII, 408-09.

The postconviction court found as follows:

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